Public Document Pack
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Resources & Delivering Value
Scrutiny Board

Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 6.00 pm

Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

(a)
You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.
(b)
When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, SubCommittee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:


Declare the interest if you have not already registered it



Not participate in any discussion or vote



Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with



Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
the meeting

(c)
If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you
or your partner.
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council)
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses.
Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.
Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the Council for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
class.
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors Mrs K Wild (Chairman),
T Dicicco (Vice-Chairman), M Allen,
B Groom, M Gough, M Brain, M Parker,
W Qais and J Fairburn

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000
Paul Rogers
Tel: 0121 704 6550
Email: paul.rogers@solihull.gov.uk
Date: Wednesday, 25 November 2020

RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD
Wednesday, 2 December 2020
AGENDA
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

3.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS

4.

MINUTES (Pages 7 - 8)
To consider for approval the Minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering
Value Scrutiny Board meeting held on 9th November 2020.

5.

FOLLOW UP REPORT – ‘IMPLICATIONS ARISING FROM THE HACKITT
REVIEW POST GRENFELL’ (Pages 9 - 18)
To Provide the Scrutiny Board with an update on current Building Safety
legislation and activities undertaken and planned to be undertaken as a direct
result of the proposals from the Hackitt review of Building Regulations and fire
safety.

6.

SICKNESS ABSENCE (Pages 19 - 30)
To provide the Board with detail of the Council’s performance in relation to the
management of employee sickness absence and details of current and
proposed interventions to reduce levels.

7.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
The meeting is not open to the public during discussion of the following item
because the report contains exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972.

8.

PRIVATE MINUTES (Pages 31 - 34)
To consider for approval the Private Minutes arising from the Resources and
Delivering Value Scrutiny Board meeting held on 9th November 2020.

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 4

RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 November 2020
MINUTES

Present:

Councillors: K Wild (Chairman), T Dicicco (Vice Chairman), Mrs K Wild
(Chairman), M Allen, B Groom, M Gough, M Brain, T Dicicco,
M Parker, W Qais, J Fairburn, A Adeyemo and R Sleigh OBEM Allen,
B Groom, J Fairburn and M Brain

Members in
Attendance:

Councillor B Sleigh, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor A Adeyemo

Officers:

Paul Johnson, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
Sam Gilbert, Assistant Director (Finance and Property Services)
Paul Langham, Assistant Director (Business Systems)
Julie Cooper, Head of Financial Operations
Richard Johnson, Social Care Programme Manager
Adrian Cattell, Head of Human Resources
Paul Rogers, Democratic Services

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
No apologies for absence were received.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
No declarations of interest were received.

3.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
No questions were received. A deputation was received from Councillor A
Adeyemo.

4.

MINUTES - 14TH SEPTEMBER 2020
RESOLVED:
(i) To agree the Minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering Value
Scrutiny Board meeting held on 14th September 2020 as a correct
record.

5.

MINUTES -12TH OCTOBER 2020
(i) To agree the Minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering Value
Scrutiny Board meeting held on 12th October 2020 as a correct record.

6.

MOTION FROM FULL COUNCIL 6TH OCTOBER 2020
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Resources addressed the Scrutiny Board,
advising that the Medium Term Financial Strategy Update as at 30th September

Page1 7

RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 November 2020
2020 report dated 5th November 2020 as submitted to Full Cabinet had been
provided for Board Members reference.
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder advised that the Council had welcomed
Government fiscal support received to date during the Covid-19 pandemic and
called on Government for future support for residents and businesses in the
borough.
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder noted that the Council Motion displayed a clear
commitment to continued support for Solihull residents and businesses.
Members were advised that although the Council had received £38M fiscal
support through grant and Council Tax relief, it was still addressing financial
pressures arising from the pandemic and called for additional, on-going
financial support from Government.
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder concluded that the Council Motion was drafted
intentionally to be broad in its scope to allow for future dialogue with
Government to continue.
The Madam Chairman invited Councillor Adeyemo to address the Scrutiny
Board. Councillor Adeyemo stated that he supported the Cabinet Portfolio
Holder’s Council Motion, but was, however, mindful that the Council should not
be financially disadvantaged from having supported residents and businesses
in Solihull during the Covid-19 pandemic. Councillor Adeyemo also emphasised
that no residents in the borough should be left behind in terms of future
assistance and support.
Having considered and commented on the Council Motion, Members of the
Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board:
RESOLVED:
(i) To unanimously agree the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Resources
Council Motion, put to Full Council on 6th October 2020, relating to the
financial implications of the Covid-19 pandemic.
7.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
The meeting was not open to the public during discussion of the following item
because the report contained exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A
to the Local Government Act 1972.

8.

ORACLE CLOUD PROGRAMME

The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board meeting closed
at 6:54 p.m.

Page28

Agenda Item 5
Meeting date:

2 December 2020

Report to:

Resources & Delivering Value Scrutiny
Board

Subject/report
title:

Follow up report – ‘Implications arising from the Hackitt Review post
Grenfell’

Report from:

Chief Finance Officer SCH/Assistant Director of Finance and
Property Services & Executive Director of Assets and Development –
Solihull Community Housing

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Samantha Gilbert, Chief Finance Officer SCH/Assistant Director of
Finance and Property Services
sgilbert@solihull.gov.uk
Mark Pinnell, Executive Director of Assets and Development
mpinnell@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

N/A

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To Provide the Scrutiny Board with an update on current Building Safety legislation and
activities undertaken and planned to be undertaken as a direct result of the proposals
from the Hackitt review of Building Regulations and fire safety.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

To note and comment on the implications arising from the Draft Building Safety Bill to
provide to Cabinet.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Members will recall in December 2019 a report was presented at Scrutiny Board to
provide a brief overview of the proposals from the Hackitt review of Building
Regulations and fire safety and the potential financial implications for SMBC and its
partners. Whilst the legislation relates to all buildings, this report focuses particularly

Page 9

on the Council’s housing stock managed by Solihull Community Housing (SCH).
3.2

Further to existing legislation the government published the draft Building Safety Bill
(BSB) on 20 July 2020, setting out proposed reforms to the building safety regulatory
system introducing a new regulatory regime for all buildings classed as higher-risk and
any new build as well as proposed regulatory changes that will impact all building work.

3.3

The Bill also refers to strengthening the residents’ voice and aims to deliver better
performance of all buildings including the management of fire and structural safety risks
in new and existing buildings.

3.4

The broad outline of the Bill is in keeping with the Hackitt Review recommendations
ensuring there is a ‘golden thread’ of fire safety and building information that will be
digitally held to specific standards and carry through from the design and construction
stages into the occupation and management phase. At the occupation stage there will
be duties imposed on the ‘accountable person’ and a ‘Building Safety Manager’ (BSM)
to ensure that the building is safe and that any risks are thought about in advance and,
where possible, steps are taken to reduce them.

3.5

The initial assessment of the strategic impact of the draft bill can be summarised
under the following headings:







Resources
Resident Engagement
Financial
Stock Viability – (Options Appraisal)
Record keeping and processes
Oversight

3.6

Resources required include the need to employ competent staff to increase the depth
and resilience of departments across the Council and SCH to meet the requirements
of the draft Bill. This will involve not only BSMs but also administration officers
(Building Safety Coordinators) would also be required to support the BSM role and
additional onsite staff and specialist contractors will also be required. Work is currently
ongoing to quantify the scale of the resources required.

3.7

Resident Engagement is key to capturing the voice of residents. We need to be able
to demonstrate an auditable process of capturing safety related issues, dealing with
them and closing the circle with a response and/or action. This will involve additional
IT systems and potentially more staff resources. We also need to ensure our residents
are aware of the duties that the Bill will put on them and consider how we will monitor
and act where there is non-compliance.

3.8

Financial implications resulting from additional resources whether staff or equipment
are also yet to be quantified.

Page 10

3.9

Stock Viability the investment and ongoing financial requirements arising from the
Bill may bring into question the viability of retaining some of the existing stock. Work to
define an options appraisal will be required in the longer term and may not be deemed
practical.

3.10

Record keeping and Processes will be required to ensure legislative requirements
are met and provide an auditable record of all activities undertaken. All stakeholders
need to be aware of individual and corporate requirements and this will require
training for new ways of working collaboratively.

3.11

Oversight - Due to the size of the Council’s housing stock, and risks associated, we
will need a clear framework of accountability for all. The Council as the registered
provider of social housing is the ‘Accountable Person’ will need to have detailed
oversight, with some level of technical input, and a robust governance framework in
order to be satisfied that all duties and responsibilities are being delivered in line with
the new regulatory and legislative framework.
Draft Building Safety Bill – Summary
Part 1 Overview

3.12

Introduces the Bill and gives an overview of the more stringent regulatory regime
which involves the introduction of dutyholders that will have accountability and
statutory responsibilities for managing risks across the design, construction, and
occupation of buildings on an ongoing basis.

3.13

In the draft Bill, a higher-risk building is defined as a building that:
 Is 18m and over, or has more than six storeys – whichever is reached first.
 and contains two or more rooms for residential purposes, or two or more dwellings,
or student accommodation
 However, the definition of ‘room’ excludes a room in a residential care home,
temporary accommodation such as a hotel, or a secure residential institution such
as a prison
The 18m height is currently under review and is expected to be reduced to 11m for all
new build activity.

3.14

This definition equates to 37 Council dwelling buildings currently within scope and
there are a further 9 buildings that we manage in the same way: Saxon Court – 52 units
 Ipswich House – TA accommodation
 7 buildings known as ‘ex-sheltered schemes’

Page 11

3.15

There will be gateway points (stop/go decision points) which will provide rigorous
inspection of regulatory requirements to help ensure building safety risks are considered
during planning, design and construction. These are: Creating building information to be stored and updated through the Gateway
process and throughout the building’s lifecycle;
 Mandatory reporting to the new Building Safety Regulator of fire and structural
safety occurrences which could cause a significant risk;
 Building registration and a certificate that confirms a building is fit for occupation.
This will be periodically reviewed;
 Creating an ongoing duty on the Accountable Person (who is the dutyholder in
occupation). This duty will be to assess building safety risks, taking all reasonable
steps to prevent the occurrence of a major incident in the building as a result of
these risks;
 A statutory requirement for the Accountable Person to provide a ‘Safety Case
Report’ which demonstrates how building safety risks are being identified, mitigated
and managed on an ongoing basis;
 Requiring the Accountable Person to appoint a competent Building Safety Manager
to support them in managing fire and structural safety risks in the building day-today;
 Requirements to engage and develop a strong partnership with residents to keep
the building safe through greater transparency and effective complaints handling.
Part 2 – Sets up the new Regulator

3.16

The Bill establishes the Health and Safety Executive as the Building Safety Regulator.
One of the Building Safety Regulator’s three functions is to implement the new regime
for higher-risk buildings. It contains definitions of “building safety risk” and “higher-risk
building” and sets out the new process of regulation for the planning and development
of higher-risk buildings.
Part 3 – BUILDING ACT 1984

3.17

Amends the Building Act 1984 as it applies in relation to England to provide that the
regulator is the building control authority in relation to higher-risk buildings, and requires
the regulator to establish and maintain registers of building control approvers and
building inspectors.
Part 4 – Higher Risk Buildings

3.18

This is the part of the draft bill that refers specifically to occupied higher risk buildings,
imposes duties on accountable persons and building safety managers.

Page 12

3.19

Section 61 sets out the definition of the Accountable Person. It is currently understood
that where the council own the buildings and the ALMO manages them on their behalf
the council will be the accountable person but the ALMO will be the accountable person
for any homes it owns itself.

3.20

Section 62 then sets out that the accountable person must register the building with
the regulator in a prescribed fashion. Section 64 sets out a duty to then make an
application under section 65 for a building assurance certificate in relation to the
building.

3.21

To get a building assurance certificate the accountable person must show it has fulfilled
all of its requirements: appointed a suitable building safety manager, assessed the
building safety risks and taken steps to prevent major incident, developed a safety case
report and be fulfilling their duties under the mandatory occurrence reporting system
and providing relevant information to the regulator. They must also have produced a
residents’ engagement strategy. The certificate should then be displayed in a
conspicuous place within the building.

3.22

The regulator will have powers to veto the appointment of a particular building safety
manager if they believe them to be unsuitable. A Building Safety Manager can be the
ALMO but then the building safety manager must as soon as reasonably practicable
appoint an individual acting under its control to be the nominated individual for the
building.

3.23

Where a council or Arms-Length Management Organisation (ALMO) has many higherrisk buildings MHCLG officials have stated that this gives organisations scope to
nominate different individuals to different buildings in order to be able to carry out the
functions. The regulator will also have the power to direct the building safety manager
to change its nominated individual within the specified period if it feels they are
unsuitable.

3.24

It will be for the accountable person to assess the building safety risks relating to the
building, draw up the fire safety case, carry out any work to prevent a major incident
and develop a resident engagement strategy. Again all or any of these tasks could be
delegated to the building safety manager to actually carry out as long as the
accountable person has oversight and understands they are ultimately accountable for
fulfilling those duties.

3.25

Section 76 provides for the management of the building by the building safety manager
and they have to manage it in accordance with the safety case report for the building.

3.26

Section 77 sets out a duty for the accountable person to have adequate insurance
against loss (or loss of a prescribed kind) arising as a result of a building safety risk
materialising as regards to the building. The accountable person must establish and
operate a mandatory occurrence reporting system but it is the building safety manager

Page 13

who has a duty to give prescribed information to the regulator by the prescribed time
and in the specified way.
3.27

The accountable person must keep copies of prescribed documents in accordance with
prescribed standards, give those to the Regulator, residents, owners or others as
directed by the Regulator. They must also pass all of these documents on to a new
accountable person if that changes.

3.28

Section 84 sets out the complaints procedure which the accountable person must follow
as soon as reasonably practicable after the relevant time establish a system for the
investigation of relevant complaints.

Organisational Delivery Implications
3.29

Whilst the accountable person has most of the duties in the bill, MHCLG have agreed
that all or any of these tasks could be delegated to the building safety manager to
actually carry out as long as the accountable person has oversight and understands
they are ultimately accountable for fulfilling those duties.
Table 1 below lists the duties and the role accountability.
Table 1

Duty

Accountable
Person

Register the building with the
Regulator
Apply for a Building Assurance
Certificate and display it in
the building
Appoint a suitable Building Safety
Manager
Assessed the Building Safety
Risks
Take steps to prevent a major
incident
Develop a Safety Case Report and
keep it up to date
Produce a Resident Engagement
Strategy
Have adequate insurance against
loss under building safety
management
Appoint an individual as the
nominated individual for the
building

Page 14




Building Safety
Manager






















Manage the building according to
the safety case report
Establish and operate a mandatory
occurrence reporting system
Provide information to the
Accountable person and the
Regulator as required
Set up a complaints procedure for
the investigation of relevant
complaints













Actions taken to date in response
3.30

Although some legislation is in draft and subject to a parliamentary process the Council
and SCH have started to make preparations.

3.31

A Council-led Building Safety Board has been established chaired by the Assistant
Director (Communities and Partnerships) to oversee and inform the approach to
Building safety across the Council housing stock. The Board has representation from
SCH, Building Regulation, Finance, Property Services, Housing and Health and Safety
to ensure appropriate levels of collaboration, support and challenge.

3.32

The Building Safety Board will be supported by an external building safety specialist
and an internal Project Manager yet to be appointed. This approach has been supported
by the Strategic Housing Framework Board and confirms the commitment to keeping
residents safe.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

The “do nothing” approach is not acceptable. The Council and SCH will need to act
upon the changes to be compliant with the latest regulations.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The Government has advised that they plan to adopt all of the recommendations from
the Hackitt review. The process of implementing these is underway and it will be
implicit on all authorities to ensure they understand and plan for the impact.

5.2

Although subject to further Parliamentary approval the Draft Building Safety Bill is
expected to be become legislation in its entirety.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Page 15

Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

Meeting the requirements from the bill will
ensure the Council’s housing stock is more
attractive to tenants.

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:
4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.

6.2

Some of the work detailed will have a
beneficial impact on reducing the net
carbon emissions within the Council’s
housing stock.
All of the proposals set out in the Draft
Building Safety Bill should further improve
safety and ensure risks are reduced.

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 The Council have set up a Building Safety Board to oversee all aspects of Building
Safety. In addition Quarterly health and safety updates, including fire safety are
reported to the SMBC/SCH Quarterly Monitoring Board (QMB), SMBC Corporate
Health and Safety Board, the SCH Executive Leadership Team and SCH Full Board.
We also work closely with West Midlands Fire Service to inform our policy and
approaches to fire safety. In addition SCH are advised on all Health and Safety issues
and legislation by the Councils Health and Safety Support Team.
6.2.2 Additional layers of operational scrutiny and oversight comes through the SCH
Corporate Health and Safety Group and Building Safety Management Group, both of
which includes representation from the Councils Health and Safety Support Team.
6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 The Council currently has a capital programme of £23.451M for the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) for 2020/21 managed by SCH. Of this budget, £13.766M is used to
invest in maintaining the current stock. In the event the Hackitt Review leads to
material investment being required in the Council’s housing stock, the capital
programme may need to be reprioritised to accommodate an early implementation.

Page 16

6.3.2 Future long term financial planning will also be considered as part of the Council’s
HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy and additional financing may be considered
through either the use of HRA funds in year, or through additional borrowing if
required.
6.3.3 Where there are minor changes to repairs and maintenance plans, there is further
funding available through revenue budgets held by SCH totalling £8.782M in 2020/21.
6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 Details on the legislation are highlighted within the report. The Council will need to
comply with the requirements of the legislation once the Act is passed. Whilst this
remains a draft parliamentary Bill, its progress through parliament will be monitored to
ensure any changes re identified and incorporated into the work identified in this
report.
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 There are two relevant risks listed on the corporate risk registers at SCH and SMBC
which are relevant to this report:
(a)

Failure to have adequate fire safety arrangements in place for buildings that
SCH has delegated duty for i.e. High Rise Buildings, Low Rise Buildings with
Communal Areas.

(b)

Failure to have adequate fire safety arrangements in place for buildings that
SCH does not have delegated duty for i.e. Domestic Houses.

6.5.2 These risks have been scrutinised by the SCH Board and SMBC Audit Committee
respectively for the SCH and SMBC risks. Both organisations recorded that the risk is
being appropriately managed through existing mitigations.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 As highlighted above, SCH will carry out extensive consultation with tenants and
leaseholders affected by any significant scheme. SCH will ensure that wide-ranging
opportunities for participating in the consultation are made available to tenants and
leaseholders to get diverse opinions and views.
6.6.2 All written information for tenants and leaseholders about the works will be in plain
English and, where unavoidable jargon is used, it will be clearly explained.
6.6.3 SCH will arrange one-to-one discussions with people who have communication
barriers, for example because of hearing and visual impairment or do not speak or read
English.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

N/A

Page 17

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

Building Safer Futures - Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety Dame Judith Hackitt, published May 2018.

8.2

Draft Building Safety Bill

8.3

Grenfell inquiry Phase 1 – Moore-Bick

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

N/A

Page 18

Agenda Item 6
Meeting date:

2 December 2020

Report to:

Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny
Board

Subject/report
title:

Sickness Absence

Report from:

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Adrian Cattell (Head of Human Resources)
acattell@solihull.gov.uk Tel: 0121 704 6038

Wards affected:
☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To provide the Board with detail of the Council’s performance in relation to the
management of employee sickness absence and details of current and proposed
interventions to reduce levels.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

The Board is asked to note the contents of this report and endorse the actions
identified.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Previous reports to the Board had highlighted concerns over increasing levels of
sickness absence and in particular in Adult Care and Support. A range of actions
have therefore been ongoing with the aim of reducing sickness absence levels.

3.2

As reported to the Board previously, Sickness absence levels across the Council
peaked at a high of 11.75 days per full time equivalent (FTE) employee for the 12
months ending 31 August 2018. Since then has been a steady reduction in sickness
levels with the last reported figure to this Board being 9.91 days per FTE for the 12
months ending 30 June 2020.

3.3

For the year ending 30 September 2020 the level of sickness has fallen further to 9.42
days per FTE. The total number of days lost for the same period was 17,074. For the
year ending 31 March 2020 the total number of days lost was 22,134. This represents
a 23% reduction in sickness absence. The sickness absence trend from October 2016

Page 19

to September 2020 is shown in the appendix to this report on page 2.
3.4

Following a review of sickness absence by the Corporate Leadership Team, it was
agreed to set a target of no more than 9 days per FTE for the year ending 31 March
2021.

3.5

For the 12 months ending 30 September 2020 sickness levels were again highest in
Adult Care and Support at 14.92 days per FTE. This level is a significant improvement
from a reported high of 17.38 days. The second highest Directorate for the same
period is Childrens Services at 11.14. The remaining three Directorates are all below
the target with Economy and Infrastructure 7.69 days, Public Health 4.47 days and
Resources 6.96 days (see page 1 of the appendix).

3.6

Mental health related absence remains the single biggest cause of absence at 35%,
which is an 1.7% increase compared to the year ending March 2020. There has
however been a reduction of 273 days compared to the level for the year ending 31
March 2020. Compared to the year ending 30 September 2018 the reduction in days
lost to mental health related absence is 1,063 days (13%). There has also been a
reduction in back and muscular skeletal absences of 972 days (43%).

3.7

32.5% of the reported mental health absence is purely for personal reasons. The two
Directorates with the highest level of mental health absence are Adult Care and
Support (46.4%) and Children’s Services 39.3% of total absence.

3.8

Further analysis of mental health absence reveals that personal related stress
accounts for 11.5% of total sickness. As an individual category therefore this is the
single highest reason for sickness absence (see page 5 of the appendix).

3.9

Short term absence accounts for an average of 3.17 and long term 6.25 days per
FTE. This represents a reduction in both categories from the 3.6 and 6.27 days for the
year ending 30 September 2019.

3.10

The monthly sickness rate for September 2020 was 0.72 days per FTE (0.96 in
September 2019). This rate however, is showing a slight increase from the figures
reported between May and August of this year all of which were in the range 0.55 to
0.6 days per FTE (see page 6 of the appendix).

3.11 A significant amount of sickness recorded for the 12 months ending 30 September
2020 relates to individuals who no longer work for the Council. If leavers are excluded
the sickness for the same period is 8.03 days per FTE. This means that 15.7% of the
total sickness figure relates to leavers.
3.12 Since the start of the Pandemic and up to the 30 September 2020, Covid-19 has
resulted in sickness absence totalling 972 days which is 5% of the total sickness
absence.
3.13 Since March 2020, where the job role allows, employees have been working from
home and this seems to have been a factor in the reduction in sickness absence.
3.14

A survey of all employees has recently been conducted to find out how staff are
feeling and working during the pandemic, as well as how working may look in the future.
There were 1,730 responses and over 9,000 sets of individual comments. All of the

Page 20

feedback has enabled the Wider Corporate Leadership Team to start considering the
recovery phase and inform the way we might reset the organisation to retain the
positive benefits from this different way of working.
3.15

Key highlights from the employee survey report were:

3.15.1 95% of employee survey respondents have enjoyed working from home. Key
evidence from the survey confirms that the majority have a better work-life balance,
feel more productive, and have better connections with family due to time saved not
travelling. Many also highlighted values that correlate to the Council Plan, such as a
reduction in carbon emissions, people looking after their own wellbeing much more
than before Covid restrictions were put into place, eating healthier and exercising
much more regularly.
3.15.2 Many have never tried home working before and confirmed that working from home
for a good proportion of their working week would enable them to maintain a healthier
lifestyle and therefore improve their overall wellbeing, a factor that will always
contribute to more motivated and productive employees and reduced sickness
absence and associated workforce costs.
3.16

The Board has previously been made aware on a range of actions that were in place
to support employees and reduce absence levels.

3.17

A key component of the Employee Journey Programme is to continue to implement
actions to improve staff health and wellbeing.

3.18 As reported at the Board meeting on 17 April 2019, the Council agreed to sign up to
the West Midlands Combined Authority THRIVE Commitment to Wellbeing. The
THRIVE framework is being used as the Council’s Wellbeing Action Plan. The actions
in the plan consist of health and wellbeing approaches in respect of prevention, selfmanagement, as well as targeted support. It was anticipated that putting the
Commitment into practice would deliver real improvements in workforce health and
wellbeing.
3.19 In October 2020 SMBC became the first Local Authority to achieve the WMCA Thrive
at Work accreditation at Bronze Level. We were able to demonstrate that we have in
place the basic building blocks of a robust Workplace Wellbeing framework and Action
Plan. This included demonstrating senior-level commitment, oversight through a
Wellbeing Committee, Wellbeing Policies and Practices, data and the intelligence
gathered through Employee Surveys and Pulse Surveys informs our Strategy and
Action Plan.
3.20 Our Employee Survey 2020 results echoed previous wellbeing themes such as mental
health, sleep, isolation/stress/worry, sedentary behaviours, menopause, work/life
balance. We have built our Workplace Wellbeing Strategy and Action Plan around
these themes. They are monitored and flexed to meet the ongoing and changing
needs of our workforce. This has been particularly important during the pandemic.

Page 21

3.21

We have aligned our Workplace Wellbeing Priorities 2020/2021 with our Council
priorities:
Thrive Silver Accreditation
 Review the WMCA Thrive silver accreditation criteria with a view to entering for
accreditation
Mental Health Awareness Network
 Develop a mental health and wellbeing employee network: This involves
bringing together and training Local Wellbeing Leads who will focus on having
conversations about mental health with colleagues in order to reduce the stigma
surrounding mental health, as well as encourage employees to self-care and to
know where to access further help and support.
Managing stress, anxiety/worry
 Develop, trial, evaluate and launch the wellbeing well-doing toolkit for staff. This
toolkit has been developed to meet the needs of our staff, and focuses on stress
and anxiety /worry management skills. Launch is imminent.
Mental Health support for Managers
 Develop and deliver/evaluate a line manager’s mental health awareness
session centred around the knowledge and tools to enable managers to support
the wellbeing of their staff.
 Develop a wellbeing coaching/mentoring offer for managers who wish to be
supported in having wellbeing conversations with their staff
 Enable managers to facilitate wellbeing conversations locally by providing
communication, guides and advice.
Wellbeing activities
 The delivery of interactive webinars to enable employees to improve sleep,
manage menopause symptoms, manage work-life balance and other pertinent
wellbeing behaviours.
 Develop with Public Health a Move More Advocate Network, where local Move
More Advocates will encourage peers to reduce sedentary behaviours and
increase physical activity during working hours and to take regular breaks
 Encourage Team challenges and Team activities to build and sustain team
resilience.
Communicate widely about wellbeing issues
 Develop a 12 month communication and engagement plan for wellbeing
activity that includes pulse surveys, newsletters, national campaigns, incentives
based upon our employee evidence
 Produce a monthly Wellbeing Matters online magazine which showcases local
teams and individual wellbeing stories
 Review the Healthy Council Intranet pages, ensuring a blended approach is
made available with appropriate signposting, tools, videos and information (to be
reviewed every 4 months)

Page 22




Review the Organisational Development Wellbeing Intranet pages to ensure
that provides an overview of the wellbeing strategy and signposts to relevant areas
(every 6 months)
Ensure that wellbeing activity is linked to learning and development wellbeing
offer and that this is communicated to our employees

Social Value
 We are supporting Atkins and other organisations who have made a commitment
to improving wellbeing, both to internal employees and to local SMEs as part of
their contract requirements with SMBC, through offering to quality assure the
content of their webinars and resources.
4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

N/A

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

N/A

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Economy:

N/A

1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

N/A

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:

N/A

7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.

Page 23

6.2

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1

Report to Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board 2/12/20.

6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 The programme of work in the Employee Journey will have a beneficial impact on
employee performance, service quality and cost, helping the Council to deliver on its
commitment and costs. Reductions in sickness absence will result in reduced costs to
the Council.
6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 N/A
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 Failure to appropriately manage and support staff can leave the Council open to legal
challenge, particularly with regard to mental health and disability related matters. The
actions identified in the Employee Journey Programme and how the Council manages
sickness absence, are key to improving individual, team and service performance
without which the Council may not deliver on its key priorities.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 Due regard to equality is embedded in the Sickness Absence Policy and guidance on
managing sickness absence. The regular review of sickness absence data provides
an insight into the reasons, trends and rates of absence where additional support may
be required to prevent and reduce absenteeism.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

Appendix – Sickness Absence Statistics

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

N/A

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

N/A

Page 24

HR Business Improvement Team

SICKNESS ABSENCE
(1st October 2019 to 30th September 2020)
Directorate

Average FTE

Total No. of
Average
Days Absent
Absence Days
over 12 months

Public Sector
Target 2019/20
9.00 days (+/-)

Total ShortTerm Absence
Days

Average ShortTerm Absence
Days per
Average FTE

Total Long
Term Absence
Days

Average Long- No. of people
No. of people
Term Absence with 10+ (10-19 with 20+ days in
Days per
days) in past 12 past 12 months
Average FTE
months based
based on
on duration
duration

Adult Care and Support

399.19

5957.42

14.92

5.92

1816.39

4.55

4141.02

10.37

48

77

Childrens Services and Skills Directorate

514.46

5731.64

11.14

2.14

1457.88

2.83

4273.77

8.31

40

70

Economy and Infrastructure Directorate

407.33

3133.97

7.69

-1.31

1272.58

3.12

1861.39

4.57

34

35

62.18

278.18

4.47

-4.53

149.18

2.40

129.00

2.07

4

2

745.72

5193.93

6.96

-2.04

2232.43

2.99

2961.50

3.97

67

59

Strategic Services Directorate

3.50

10.00

2.86

-6.14

10.00

2.86

0.00

0.00

1

0

WMCA Directorate

0.50

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0

0

2132.88

20305.14

9.52

0.52

6938.46

3.25

13366.68

6.27

65.83

243

1911.51

11379.12

5.95

-3.05

5772.14

3.02

5606.99

2.93

49.27

141

4044.38

31684.26

7.83

-1.17

12710.59

3.14

18973.67

4.69

59.88

384

Public Health and Commissioning Directorate
Resources Directorate

Total by Directorates
Solihull Schools (Community and Voluntary Aided)

Page 25

Grand Total by Directorate and Schools

Solihull MBC Confidential

1

HR Business Improvement Team

SICKNESS ABSENCE TREND

01-Oct-16
to
30-Sep-17

01-Apr-17
to
31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17
to
30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18
to
31-Mar-19

01-Oct-18
to
30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19
to
31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19
to
30-Sep-20

Core Council

10.54

11.37

11.65

10.56

9.87

10.36

9.52

Solihull Schools (Community and Voluntary Aided)

6.85

6.50

6.33

6.76

6.93

6.64

5.95

SMBC

8.79

9.03

9.09

8.72

8.45

8.59

7.83

Sickness Absence Trend Chart
14.00

12.00

Average Absence Days

Page 26

10.00

8.00

6.00

4.00

2.00

0.00
01-Oct-16
to
30-Sep-17

01-Apr-17
to
31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17
to
30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18
to
31-Mar-19

01-Oct-18
to
30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19
to
31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19
to
30-Sep-20

12-month rolling year period
Core Council

Solihull MBC Confidential

Solihull Schools (Community and Voluntary Aided)

SMBC

2

HR Business Improvement Team

SICKNESS ABSENCE: TOP 6 ABSENCE REASONS - DATA TABLES

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

Top 6 Absence Reasons

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress/Anxiety/Depression
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Fracture / Dislocation
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cold / Flu
Cancer

7246.01
3173.01
1981.87
1818.96
1817.66
1115.22

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

24356.88

29.75%
13.03%
8.14%
7.47%
7.46%
4.58%

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

Page 27

Top 6 Absence Reasons

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress/Anxiety/Depression
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cold / Flu
Fracture / Dislocation
Cancer

8247.29
3121.07
2264.33
1792.58
1326.90
1250.52

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

24687.50

33.41%
12.64%
9.17%
7.26%
5.37%
5.07%

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress / Depression / Anxiety
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cold / Flu
Other
Gastrointestinal problems

7588.35
2341.76
1566.39
1349.88
1309.82
1121.23

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

20852.86

Solihull MBC Confidential

Top 6 Absence Reasons

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

36.39%
11.23%
7.51%
6.47%
6.28%
5.38%

Top 6 Absence Reasons

Top 6 Absence Reasons

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress/Anxiety/Depression
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cold / Flu
Cancer
Other

8343.65
2686.94
2231.16
1337.99
1027.16
891.30

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

22312.32

37.39%
12.04%
10.00%
6.00%
4.60%
3.99%

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress / Depression / Anxiety
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cold / Flu
Cancer
Gastrointestinal problems

7457.31
2142.25
1540.30
1487.93
1342.98
1212.08

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

22134.39

33.69%
9.68%
6.96%
6.72%
6.07%
5.48%

Top 6 Absence Reasons

Average Percentage
Time Lost Over ALL
in No. of
Absence
Days
Reasons

Stress / Depression / Anxiety
Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment
Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal
Cancer
Cold / Flu
Fracture/Dislocation/Sprain/ Injury

7184.19
1674.62
1292.39
1286.77
1178.43
937.82

Total of ALL Absence Reasons

20305.89

35.38%
8.25%
6.36%
6.34%
5.80%
4.62%

3

HR Business Improvement Team

SICKNESS ABSENCE: TOP 6 ABSENCE REASONS - GRAPHS
(Based on top 6 reasons for the reporting period 1st Oct 2019 to 30th Sept 2020)

Absence Reason: Operation/Post
Operative/Tests/Treatment

Absence Reason: Stress/Depression/Anxiety

Absence Reason: Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal

14.00%

40.00%

18.00%
37.39%

35.00%

36.39%

30.00%

35.38%

12.00%

16.00%

33.69%

33.41%

14.00%

29.75%

10.00%

13.03% 12.64%

Time Lost (%)

Time Lost (%)

25.00%

20.00%
15.00%

9.17%

12.04%
11.23%

10.00%

9.68%
8.25%

8.00%

Time Lost (%)

12.00%

6.00%

10.00%

8.00%
7.47%

7.51%

6.96%
6.36%

6.00%

4.00%

10.00%
4.00%
5.00%

2.00%

2.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Page 28

Stress / Depression / Anxiety

0.00%

Operation / Post Operative / Tests / Treatment

Back Pain / Musculo-skeletal

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

Absence Reason: Cold / Flu

Absence Reason: Cancer

Absence Reason: Fracture/ Dislocation/Sprain/Injury
8.00%

11.00%

8.00%
7.00%

9.00%

6.34%
6.07%

8.00%

6.00%

7.46%
4.58%

Time Lost (%)

5.07%

5.00%

4.60%

4.00%

3.00%

7.00%

7.26%

6.47%

6.00%

6.00%

6.72%
5.80%

5.00%
4.00%

Time Lost (%)

6.00%

Time Lost (%)

8.14%

10.00%

7.00%

5.37%

5.00%

4.62%
4.00%
3.00%

3.00%
2.00%

2.00%

2.00%
1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Cold / Flu

Cancer

Fracture/Dislocation/Sprain/ Injury

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

Solihull MBC Confidential

01-Apr-17 to 31-Mar-18

01-Oct-17 to 30-Sep-18

01-Apr-18 to 31-Mar-19

01-Oct-18 to 30-Sep-19

01-Apr-19 to 31-Mar-20

01-Oct-19 to 30-Sep-20

4

HR Business Improvement Team

SICKNESS ABSENCE: STRESS BREAKDOWN
(1st Oct 2019 to 30th Sept 2020)
Average Time Lost in No. of Days

Stress Personal

Stress - Work
Related

Stress - Work
Related and
Personal

244.87
406.34
270.95

385.05
260.03
147.36

223.56

953.87
687.47
353.86
10.65
327.34

145.23

251.35

1003.02

2333.19

1067.39

1043.79

Anxiety

Depression

Adult Care and Support
Childrens Services and Skills
Economy and Infrastructure Directorate
Public Health and Commissioning
Resources
Strategic Services

894.75
478.13
77.86

285.46
421.16
72.84

286.13

Core Council

1736.87

Total

Total of Other
Absence
Reasons

Grand Total of
All Absence
Reasons

2764.00
2253.13
922.87
10.65
1233.61
0.00

3193.54
3478.60
2211.26
267.54
3960.69
10.00

5957.54
5731.73
3134.13
278.19
5194.30
10.00

7184.26

13121.63

20305.89

Page 29

% of Grand Total of All Absence Reasons

Anxiety

Depression

Stress Personal

Stress - Work
Related

Stress - Work
Related and
Personal

Total

Total of Other
Absence
Reasons

Adult Care and Support
Childrens Services and Skills
Economy and Infrastructure Directorate

15.02%
8.34%
2.48%

4.79%
7.35%
2.32%

16.01%
11.99%
11.29%

4.11%
7.09%
8.65%

6.46%
4.54%
4.70%

46.39%
39.31%
29.45%

53.61%
60.69%
70.55%

Public Health and Commissioning
Resources
Strategic Services

0.00%
5.51%
0.00%

0.00%
4.30%
0.00%

3.83%
6.30%
0.00%

0.00%
2.80%
0.00%

0.00%
4.84%
0.00%

3.83%
23.75%
0.00%

96.17%
76.25%
100.00%

Core Council

8.55%

4.94%

11.49%

5.26%

5.14%

35.38%

64.62%

Solihull MBC Confidential

5

Core Council Directorates
Oct-19
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Nov-19
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Dec-19
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Jan-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Feb-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Mar-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Apr-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

May-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Jun-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Jul-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Aug-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Sep-20
Absence
Per Emp
(Days)

Page 30

Core Council

0.96

0.90

0.98

0.91

0.79

1.12

0.73

0.58

0.58

0.60

0.55

0.72

Adult Care & Support

1.31

1.27

1.11

1.21

1.02

1.16

1.01

1.18

1.23

1.26

1.20

1.39

Childrens Services & Skills Directorate

1.20

1.00

1.40

1.07

1.00

1.56

0.92

0.62

0.67

0.70

0.60

0.67

Economy and Infrastructure Directorate

0.83

0.97

0.83

0.79

0.74

0.95

0.69

0.27

0.32

0.36

0.40

0.59

Public Health & Commissioning Directorate

0.12

0.39

0.51

0.17

0.36

0.78

0.02

0.02

0.14

0.08

0.02

0.04

Resources Directorate

0.71

0.63

0.74

0.79

0.60

0.90

0.53

0.45

0.34

0.36

0.28

0.52

Strategic Services Directorate

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

3.33

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

WMCA Directorate

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

6

Agenda Item 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

